Case 2023AP000353 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-12-2023 Page 1 of 43

FILED 12-12-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2023AP353

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

ALBERT A. TERHUNE,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM CONVICTIONS ENTERED ON FEBRUARY 6, 2023, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, BRANCH 3, THE HON. PATRICIA A. BARRETT, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

ALBERT A. TERHUNE, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant 6605 University Avenue, Suite 101 Middleton, Wisconsin 53562 (608) 661-6300

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Did law enforcement have reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop?

The trial court answered yes.

II. Did Terhune's motion challenging probable cause for the preliminary breath test, and renewed motion to suppress at the refusal hearing, require an evidentiary hearing and ruling on the merits?

The trial court answered no.

III. Is Wisconsin's implied consent statute unconstitutional on its face, and as applied to the facts of Terhune's case, requiring dismissal of the refusal action?

The trial court answered no.

IV. Was Terhune's refusal to submit to a breath alcohol test unreasonable?

The trial court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Terhune requests publication under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a). No published Wisconsin court decision to counsel's knowledge has addressed, based on recent Fourth Amendment holdings by the U.S. Supreme Court, whether the rule from *Griffin v. California*¹ is now applicable to Wisconsin's implied consent statute. A published opinion would clarify whether the *Griffin* rule is applicable and whether that rule constitutionally bars the civil penalties and evidentiary consequences imposed by Wisconsin's implied consent statute. As this seems to be the next frontier in implied consent litigation, publication would afford the Court an opportunity to enunciate or clarify a rule of law and decide a case of substantial and continuing public interest.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issue on appeal.

¹ *Griffin v. California*, 380 U.S. 609, 613–15, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 1232–33, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965).

7

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 14, 2020, Terhune was pulled over by Trooper Angel De Anda of the Wisconsin State Patrol, in Sauk County, for allegedly speeding.² De Anda eventually arrested Terhune for allegedly operating while under the influence (OWI), read him the Informing the Accused form (ITAF), and issued Terhune a Notice of Intent to Revoke Operating Privileges.³ Terhune was issued a citation for OWI, which remains pending in circuit court, and timely requested a refusal hearing.⁴ On June 29, 2021, counsel for Terhune filed a motion to suppress evidence, arguing that De Anda lacked reasonable suspicion to expand the scope of the traffic stop and probable cause to request a preliminary breath test (PBT).⁵

An evidentiary hearing on Terhune's suppression motion was held, on November 24, 2021, where the trial court denied Terhune's challenge to the legality of the PBT request without a hearing on the state's motion.⁶ The trial court held that, because Terhune's motion did not specify how any of the field sobriety tests (FSTs) were deficiently administered that the motion was insufficiently plead as to the PBT challenge. However, the trial court did allow an evidentiary

² R. 58:13–15.

³ R. 1; R. 60:16–17.

⁴ R. 4:1–2; R. 20; R. 46:2.

⁵ R. 23.

⁶ R. 58:8–9.

Case 2023AP000353 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-12-2023 Page 9 of 43

hearing to proceed on Terhune's challenge to the legality of the traffic stop expansion.⁷ The state agreed with Terhune that the traffic stop expansion occurred the moment De Anda first questioned Terhune about drinking alcohol.⁸

Trooper De Anda was the sole witness to testify at the suppression hearing, and testified on direct examination as follows: At about 7:20 p.m., he pulled over a car for driving 15 miles per hour over the speed limit and observed the car make a wide turn across two lanes into a turn lane at an intersection. He activated his lights and executed a traffic stop, observed two occupants in the car and identified Terhune as the driver. 10 He detected an odor of intoxicating beverages and cologne coming from the vehicle. Terhune stated he had been coming from an axe throwing establishment in the Wisconsin Dells, exhibited slow dexterity when using his cell phone to access his insurance information, and dropped his cell phone. 11 He ordered Terhune to step out of the car, to determine where the odors were coming from, and observed him exhibit a "swaying motion" while stepping out which he had previously described in his report as

7

⁷ R. 58:5–9.

⁸ R. 58:2–3.

⁹ R 58·13–14

¹⁰ R. 58:14–15.

¹¹ R. 58:15–18.

"lightly" stumbling. 12 He then asked Terhune how much alcohol he had consumed. 13

On cross examination, De Anda testified as follows: He did not observe Terhune commit any traffic infractions other than speeding prior to pulling him over. Terhune did not stumble when stepping out of the car but was "weaving." After asking Terhune if he had been drinking, he administered a modified version of the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test (HGN), after which he suspected that Terhune was impaired. He then instructed Terhune to get in his car and drive into a nearby parking lot to complete FSTs. The trial court orally denied Terhune's suppression motion at the conclusion of testimony, and a written order denying the motion was entered on that same day. 17

On February 5, 2022, Terhune filed a motion challenging the constitutionality of Wisconsin's implied consent statute, moving for dismissal of the refusal case, and for a prohibition on referencing any chemical test refusal at trial in the OWI case. ¹⁸ The trial court ordered a briefing schedule on the motion and, following the submission of briefs by the Parties, denied Terhune's motion in an oral ruling on July

¹² R. 58:17–19, 22.

¹³ R. 58:18–19.

¹⁴ R. 58:22–23.

¹⁵ R. 58:23.

¹⁶ R. 58:24.

¹⁷ R. 58:33–39; R. 26.

¹⁸ R. 28.

Case 2023AP000353 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-12-2023 Page 11 of 43

25, 2022.¹⁹ A written order denying Terhune's constitutional challenge was entered on July 26, 2022.²⁰ Terhune's case subsequently proceeded to a refusal hearing on October 25, 2022, and a continued refusal hearing on January 30, 2023.²¹

Trooper De Anda was the sole witness to testify at the refusal hearing and testified as follows on direct examination: He pulled over a car for speeding, observed two occupants of the car, and identified Terhune as the driver. He detected the odor of intoxicants and cologne coming from the car, and Terhune dropped his phone while trying to search for his vehicle insurance information. Terhune slightly stumbled out of the car, De Anda asked Terhune if he had been drinking, and Terhune initially denied drinking before acknowledging drinking one beer. At some point during the conversation De Anda smelled intoxicants on Terhune's breath. Terhune consented to performing FSTs and performed the HGN, Walk and Turn test (WAT), and One Leg Stand test (OLS). On the HGN Terhune displayed 5 out of 6 possible clues, including onset of nystagmus prior to 45 degrees in only the left eye. On the WAT Terhune displayed 5 out of 8 possible clues including stepping off the line. On the OLS

¹⁹ R. 30; R.31; R. 32; R. 59:6–9.

²⁰ R. 34.

²¹ R. 60; R. 61.

Brief of Appellant Case 2023AP000353 Filed 12-12-2023 Page 12 of 43

> Terhune displayed 3 out of 4 possible clues. Terhune refused to provide a PBT, was placed under arrest, was read the ITAF and refused to consent to a breath alcohol test.²²

> On cross examination, De Anda testified to the following: He did not detect the odor of intoxicants on Terhune's breath until after he asked him the question about whether he had been drinking.²³ He was trained that the HGN, WAT, and OLS must be administered according to the criteria established by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) or the accuracy of those tests may be compromised.²⁴ After Terhune stepped out of the car, he administered a modified version of the HGN to Terhune, and he did not ask Terhune any questions about his eyes or whether he wore glasses or contact lenses before administering that test. During this modified HGN Terhune was facing towards his police cruiser which had flashing emergency strobe lights activated.²⁵ He skipped checking for equal tracking and lack of smooth pursuit and performed a "shortened" version of a check for distinct and sustained nystagmus at maximum deviation, where he held his finger at maximum deviation for 2

²² R. 60:2–18.

²³ R. 60:20 ("Q And after you asked him that question, you started to notice an odor of intoxicants coming from his breath? A Yes.").

²⁴ R. 61:27.

²⁵ R. 61:9–10.

seconds rather than the 4 seconds his NHTSA training required.²⁶ After this modified HGN was administered he suspected that Terhune was impaired, but nevertheless ordered him to drive his car into a nearby parking lot to perform standardized FSTs. Terhune was able to drive the car from the roadway into the parking lot and park in a designated parking stall without issue.²⁷

De Anda's refusal hearing testimony continued as follows: He was trained that it is unlikely that the eyes of someone under the influence of alcohol will behave differently in terms of clues displayed on the HGN.²⁸ Terhune's eyes, however, behaved completely differently during his check for onset of nystagmus prior to 45 degrees when only the left eye displayed this clue.²⁹ He was trained that flashing strobe lights could induce optokinetic nystagmus and produce a false positive result on the HGN.³⁰ During the HGN his rear facing cruiser strobe lights were reflecting off of a window in front of a nearby building, a backup officer had arrived in a police cruiser and he could not recall if his flashing strobe lights were activated, and he could not recall which direction Terhune was facing

²⁶ R. 60:24–25.

²⁷ R. 61:9–12.

²⁸ R 61·28

²⁹ R. 61:35–36.

³⁰ R. 61:14.

> during the HGN.³¹ He was trained to hold the stimulus slightly above eye level during the HGN, but possibly held it at eye level with Terhune.³² He was trained to tell the person to keep their head perfectly still, and to not move their head, so as not to induce a false positive result from positional alcohol nystagmus.³³ However, he possibly told Terhune to tuck his chin down during the HGN and stated that this was his usual practice with taller people.³⁴ He was trained to check for equal tracking and lack of smooth pursuit during the HGN by moving his finger at a speed which should take about two seconds to move from center to maximum deviation, but performed several passes during those checks more slowly than he was trained by taking about 4 seconds to move his finger from center to maximum deviation. He is trained to instruct a person to keep both legs straight while performing the OLS but did not include this instruction when he testified about what he told Terhune to do on the OLS.³⁵ Terhune did not step off the line during the WAT.³⁶

> On redirect examination, De Anda changed his testimony regarding the WAT to say that he observed 4 out of 8 possible clues.³⁷

³¹ R. 61:15–18.

³² R. 61:18–19, 21.

³³ R. 61:19, 22–23.

³⁴ R. 61:19, 22–23.

³⁵ R. 61:26–27.

K. 01.20-2

³⁶ R. 61:31.

³⁷ R. 61:37.

De Anda also confirmed that while he observed no pre-stop violations aside from speeding that he "miss[ed]" observing an additional alleged traffic infraction by Terhune, and only first noticed it after reviewing his squad video following Terhune's arrest.³⁸ De Anda had previously testified at the November 24, 2021 motion hearing that he had allegedly observed Terhune take a wide turn improperly crossing multiple lanes of travel.³⁹ In light of De Anda's additional testimony, defense counsel renewed Terhune's suppression motion in its entirety and argued that Terhune was not lawfully arrested because the stop expansion, PBT request, and arrest were unlawful.⁴⁰

At the conclusion of the refusal hearing the trial court held that Terhune unlawfully refused chemical testing and entered a written order, on February 6, 2023, revoking Terhune's operating privileges and imposing an ignition interlock restriction.⁴¹ The trial court denied Terhune's motion to renew the previously filed suppression motion at the refusal hearing without considering the merits further.⁴² Terhune now appeals from the judgment revoking his operating privileges and imposing an ignition interlock restriction to this Court.

35

³⁸ R. 61:40.

³⁹ R. 58:14.

⁴⁰ R 61:41–45

⁴¹ R. 43.

⁴² R. 61:46.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT REASONABLE SUSPICION EXISTED TO EXTEND THE TRAFFIC STOP

An order granting or denying a suppression motion presents a question of constitutional fact.⁴³ This is a mixed question of law and fact where challenges to the circuit court's findings of historical fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard, and courts review independently the application of those facts to constitutional principles."⁴⁴ Herein, the trial court only ruled on the merits of Terhune's motion to suppress challenging reasonable suspicion for the stop expansion.

A traffic stop is a seizure under the Fourth Amendment.⁴⁵ Searches and seizures conducted without a warrant are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, subject only to a few specifically established and well delineated exceptions.⁴⁶ One such exception occurs where an officer observes conduct which would objectively lead that officer to reasonably conclude that unlawful activity may be afoot, and authorizes a brief detention to make

⁴³ State v. Howes, 2017 WI 18, ¶17, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812.

⁴⁴ State v. Abbott, 2020 WI App 25, ¶ 10, 392 Wis. 2d 232, 242, 944 N.W.2d 8, 13. State v. Scull, 2015 WI 22, ¶ 16, 361 Wis. 2d 288, 298, 862 N.W.2d 562, 566.

⁴⁵ State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶¶ 16–18, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 156, 864 N.W.2d 26, 34; State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

 ⁴⁶ Minnesota v. Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366, 372–73, 113 S. Ct. 2130, 2135–36, 124 L. Ed. 2d 334 (1993).

Brief of Appellant Page 17 of 43 Case 2023AP000353 Filed 12-12-2023

> reasonable inquiries aimed at quickly confirming or dispelling the officer's suspicions.⁴⁷ A court must consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether a traffic stop was constitutionally reasonable.⁴⁸

> "[B]rief, suspicionless seizures" are not permitted when the "primary purpose" of the seizure is "to uncover evidence of ordinary criminal wrongdoing."49 A routine traffic stop "become[s] unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete th[e] mission" of issuing a ticket for the violation. 50 "Authority for the seizure . . . ends when tasks tied to the traffic infraction are—or reasonably should have been—completed."51 An officer's mission includes determining whether to issue a ticket as well as ordinary inquiries incident to the stop, including: checking the driver's license, checking for outstanding warrants against the driver, and inspecting vehicle registration and proof of insurance.⁵²

> Generally, a traffic stop is not extended "so long as the incidents necessary to carry out the purpose of the traffic stop have

⁴⁷ *Id.* (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968)).

⁴⁸ State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 682, 407 N.W.2d 548, 556–57 (1987).

⁴⁹ City of Indianapolis v. Edmond, 531 U.S. 32, 37, 121 S. Ct. 447, 451–52, 148 L. Ed. 2d 333 (2000).

⁵⁰ Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 354–55, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1614–15, 191 L. Ed. 2d 492 (2015).

⁵¹ *Id.* at 354.

⁵² *Id.* at 354–55.

not been completed, and the officer has not unnecessarily delayed the performance of those incidents."⁵³ An expansion in the scope of the inquiry, when accompanied by an extension of time longer than would have been needed for the original stop, must be supported by reasonable suspicion of separate illegal activity.⁵⁴ The Court of Appeals held in *State v. Davis* that checking a defendant's conditions of bond prolonged a traffic stop, even where the officer had not yet completed the ordinary duties incident to the traffic stop.⁵⁵ The *Davis* court held that the officer's check was not an ordinary inquiry incident to a traffic stop, and therefore prolonged the stop beyond the time reasonably required for its completion.⁵⁶

Here the stop was expanded by De Anda's questions about alcohol consumption because those questions are not part of the mission of a routine traffic stop for alleged speeding. De Anda at first alleged that he observed Terhune commit an improper turn and improper lane deviation prior to the stop,⁵⁷ alleging to have observed violations of Wis. Stat. § 346.31(2) and Wis. Stat. § 346.13(1). This testimony should have been held incredible by the trial court because

_

⁵³ State v. Floyd, 2017 WI 78, ¶ 22, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 411, 898 N.W.2d 560, 568.

⁵⁴ *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 354–55.

⁵⁵ **State v. Davis**, 2021 WI App 65, ¶¶ 22–37, 399 Wis. 2d 354, 367–73, 965 N.W.2d 84, 90–93.

⁵⁶ *Id*.

⁵⁷ R. 58:14.

De Anda testified that he did not observe Terhune commit any traffic infractions aside from speeding before pulling him over.⁵⁸ De Anda's alleged detection of an odor of intoxicants and cologne from the car with two occupants would not have provided reasonable suspicion of impairment as he did not testify that he determined any odor to be coming from Terhune specifically until after he had already expanded the traffic stop to question Terhune about drinking.⁵⁹ He said that Terhune swayed as he stepped out of the car, but this is contradicted by the squad video which shows neither swaying nor stumbling.⁶⁰

De Anda additionally alleged that Terhune displayed dexterity issues while trying to access car insurance information on his cell phone,⁶¹ but De Anda's testimony regarding these alleged observations is undermined by his subsequent actions. After De Anda performed a non-standardized and improperly administered version of the HGN, he told Terhune to get back in his vehicle and drive into a parking lot.⁶² Any officer that reasonably suspects that a driver is impaired would never tell that driver to continue operating a motor vehicle, with another passenger inside, on a public roadway.

_

⁵⁸ R. 58:13–18, 22–23.

⁵⁹ R. 58:13–18, 20–23.

⁶⁰ R. 58:17–19, 22; R. 79 (Exhibit 3 from the January 30, 2023, refusal hearing, at 18 minutes–19 minutes); R. 61:31–32 (trial court recognizes Exhibit 3 as the same squad video which was played at the November 24, 2021 suppression hearing).

⁶¹ R. 58:15–18.

⁶² R. 58:23–24.

> The fact that De Anda told Terhune to continue driving after the modified HGN calls into question his ability to accurately recall his observations from that evening, and demonstrates that De Anda had only a hunch, not reasonable suspicion, at the time he expanded the traffic stop. Further, De Anda's testimony that he observed no traffic violations aside from speeding made it clearly erroneous for the trial court to consider any alleged "errati[c]" lane changes or improper turns in its ruling. Telling Terhune to continue driving also demonstrated that De Anda's testimony about allegedly observing signs of impairment was incredible, and that it was clearly erroneous for the trial court to find De Anda credible or place any weight on his testimony. Since De Anda lacked reasonable suspicion of impairment at the time he expanded the stop to question Terhune about drinking the stop expansion was illegal and the circuit court erred in denying Terhune's motion to suppress based on the illegal stop expansion.⁶³

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING TERHUNE'S MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS BASED ON AN UNLAWFUL PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST REQUEST, AND RENEWED MOTION TO SUPPRESS, WITHOUT A HEARING

If a pre-trial motion alleges facts which, if true, would entitle the movant to the requested relief, the trial court must hold an

⁶³ *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 354–55.

evidentiary hearing.⁶⁴ The movant must allege the "who, what, where, when, why, and how" to enable the trial court to meaningfully assess the movant's claim.⁶⁵ Whether a motion alleges sufficient facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to an evidentiary hearing presents a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*.⁶⁶

If a motion fails to allege sufficient facts to raise a question of fact, presents only conclusory allegations, or "if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief," then the trial court has discretion to deny the motion without a hearing and such discretionary decisions are reviewed under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard.⁶⁷ To prevail on a motion for reconsideration, the movant must present either newly discovered evidence or establish a manifest error of law or fact.⁶⁸ A ruling denying a motion for reconsideration is reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard.⁶⁹An erroneous exercise of discretion occurs if a court fails to examine the relevant facts, apply the proper legal standards, or engage in a rational decision-making process.⁷⁰

-

⁶⁴ State v. Radder, 2018 WI App 36, ¶ 10, 382 Wis. 2d 749, 760, 915 N.W.2d 180, 186.

⁶⁵ *Id*.

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