Brief of Respondent

Filed 04-12-2024

Page 1 of 20

FILED 04-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2023 AP 000353

VS.

ALBERT A. TERHUNE.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM CONVICTIONS ENTERED ON FEBRURARY 6, 2023 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, BRANCH 3, THE HON. PATRICIA A. BARRETT, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Michael X. Albrecht District Attorney Sauk County District Attorney's Office 515 Oak Street Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-3280 State Bar No. 1085008

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Additional facts relevant to the State's argument will be contained within the appropriate subsection.

ARGUMENT

Albert Terhune, Defendant-Appellant, challenges the Trial Court's findings on the motions to suppress and challenging the constitutionality of the implied consent statute. Further, Terhune challenges the Trial Court's finding that he improperly refused testing, on the basis that the officer lacked both the reasonable suspicion to expand the scope and "probable cause to believe" necessary to request a preliminary breath test noted in his motions to suppress, and also lacked the overall probable cause to arrest. The State maintains that Trooper De Anda had the requisite level of cause needed at stage of the interaction with Terhune and the implied consent statute is constitutional.

WIS. STAT. § 343.305(9)(a)5 outlines the issues subject to the refusal hearing to be limited to, in relevant part:

- a) Whether the officer had probable cause to believe the person was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol ("OWI") and whether the person was lawfully placed under arrest for a violation of the OWI statutes.
- b) Whether the officer read the information contained in WIS. STAT. § 343.305(4).
- c) Whether the person refused to permit the test.

Subsections (b) and (c) are not at issue in this appeal. *In re Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 42, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675, held that the "lawfully placed under arrest" language of sub (a) meant that "the circuit court may entertain an argument that the arrest was unlawful because the traffic stop that preceded it was not justified by probable cause or reasonable suspicion." Terhune makes that argument now, by way of attacking the officer's expansion of the scope of the traffic stop and the PBT request. He also challenges the court's overall finding of probable cause, which is just an extension of the previous arguments, and challenges the constitutionality of the implied consent statute.

I. Ample Reasonable Suspicion Existed to Extend the Traffic Stop and the Trial Court's Finding Should be Upheld

Terhune asserts that Trooper "De Anda lacked reasonable suspicion of impairment at the time he expanded the stop to question Terhune about drinking" and thus the Trial Court erred in denying his motion to suppress. In order to justify an investigatory seizure, the police must have a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual is or was violating the law. *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 8, 260 Wis.2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394 (*internal quotations and citations omitted*). "The question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience." *Id.* (*citations omitted*). During a traffic stop, "[t]he scope of the officer's inquiry, or

the line of questioning, may be broadened beyond the purpose for which the person was stopped only if additional suspicious factors come to the officer's attention – keeping in mind that these factors, like the factors justifying the stop in the first place, must be 'particularized' and 'objective.'" *State v. Betow*, 226 Wis. 2d 90, 94, 593 N.W.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1999) *citing United States v. Perez*, 37 F.3d 510, 513 (9th Cir.1994).

Trooper De Anda had the following specific and articulable facts when he questioned Terhune regarding drinking:

- Speeding 85 in 70 mph zone (58:14).
- Odor of intoxicants from vehicle (58:15-16).
- Odor of cologne or perfume, which is sometimes used as a masking agent (58:16).
- Coming from ax throwing, which Trooper De Anda knew to typically involves alcohol (58:16).
- Slow dexterity in presenting insurance through his phone slow fingers, which appeared unusual (58:17-18).
- Terhune leaned over passenger and dropped phone (58:18).
- Swaying motion as Terhune exited vehicle (58:18).

Information that would have been in front of Trooper De Anda, but he noticed after he reviewed his video more carefully later:

Wide turn crossing two lanes into the turning lane at an intersection (58:14;
61:40).

Terhune makes much of this in his brief, suggesting that this amounts to a dramatic change in testimony and should call into question all of De Anda's testimony. But despite three hearings and rigorous cross examination on other issues, no record was developed about that issue being about dishonesty (61:40). What is known is that these facts were obviously in front of Trooper De Anda at the time because it is on the squad camera video. "[T]he fact that [an] officer does not have the state of mind which is hypothecated by the reasons which provide the legal justification for the officer's action does not invalidate the action taken as long as the circumstances, viewed objectively, justify that action. Subjective intentions play no role in ordinary, probable-cause Fourth Amendment analysis."

Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 38, 117 S.Ct 418 (1996) (citing Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996) internal quotations omitted).

An additional factor that should be in the reasonable suspicion calculus is:

• Terhune initially denied drinking, then admitted to one cup of beer when confronted with odor of intoxicants from breath (60:11).

While the State conceded at the motion hearing that this represented an expansion of the scope of the traffic stop into an inquiry into alcohol related driving, this single question is not an unreasonable extension of the traffic stop. In *State v. Gaulrapp*, a traffic stop for loud muffler pivoted to a question about whether there were weapons or drugs in the vehicle. 207 Wis.2d 600, 603, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct.

App. 1996). The Court of Appeals held that the "detention was not unreasonably prolonged by the asking of one question." *Id.* at 609. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed a trial court's finding that that an "officer permissibly, and only minutely, expanded the scope of detention by asking [the driver] whether he had been drinking." *State v. Glover*, 2011 WI App 58, ¶ 15, 332 Wis. 2d 807, 798 N.W.2d 321. In *Glover*, the stop was at 1:19 a.m. for speeding 34 in a 25mph zone, with a slight odor of intoxicants coming from the cab that had 2 persons in it and Glover admitted coming from a bar. *Id.* ¶ 2-3.

Here, the facts available to the Trooper are stronger in favor of expansion of the scope, and once Terhune lies about drinking and then admits to drinking, there is unquestionably enough facts for a request for him to perform field sobriety tests. View objectively, there is ample reasonable articulable suspicion to pass constitutional muster.

II. The Trial Court Appropriately Denied Terhune's Secondary Motion to Suppress Based on the Preliminary Breath Test Request

Tellingly, Terhune alleges the Trial Court erred in denying his motion to suppress based on the PBT request in the same way that he perfunctorily moved to suppress it in the first place: as an afterthought. In his initial motion to suppress, Terhune asked the Trial Court to widen the hearing to include the request for the PBT:

Alternatively, if the Court believes that there was reasonable suspicion to extend the traffic stop, the traffic stop became unlawful when Trooper De Anda requested that Mr. Terhune provide a PBT. The Defense anticipates that the State will argue that the results of the FSTs provided probable cause for the PBT request. However, there is reason to believe that the FSTs may not have been administered according to the

standardized criteria established by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA). An officer may rely on their general observations during a traffic stop, including during FSTs which are defectively administered. [...]

Trooper De Anda stated that he left his police cruiser lights on and had Mr. Terhune face away from his cruiser during the HGN test. However, his report is silent on whether Mr. Terhune was facing towards the Lake Delton officer's cruiser, whether that officer's lights remained activated, or whether he was facing towards a window which reflected rotating strobe lights. Further, Trooper De Anda's report is silent as to the position of his finger [...] during the HGN test. Trooper De Anda's report is likewise silent as to whether he asked Mr. Terhune if he had any pre-existing injuries, or medical conditions, prior to beginning the WAT and OLS tests. Finally, because there is no audio on Trooper De Anda's squad footage, there is no way to independently verify if he provided the required instructions on each test according to his NHTSA training and the standardized testing protocol. Therefore, the results of the FSTs Trooper De Anda performed should be given minimal to no evidentiary weight. The remaining factors did not rise to the level of probable cause to believe an alleged impaired driving offense had been committed, making the request for a PBT unlawful. (23:7-9. Citations omitted. Emphasis added.)

"[A] defendant is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing simply to search for something based on nothing but hope or pure speculation... [t]here must be a reasonable possibility that the defendant will establish the necessary factual basis." *State v Radder*, 2018 WI App 36, ¶ 10, 382 Wis.2d 749 (internal citations and quotations omitted; emphasis in the original). No affidavit from Terhune himself accompanied the motion, no affirmative facts from within the officer's report accompanied the motion. At the November 24, 2021 motion hearing the Trial Court identified that the secondary argument lacked any factual basis and was essentially a mechanism for discovery:

[...] I will characterize the portion [...] as one essentially saying that because the report, or the video or the audio isn't clear, I should have a right to perform discovery, and essentially that would be under the guise of it should be suppressed because those things aren't available to Mr. Terhune [...]

It certainly goes to the weight of the admissibility of the evidence for the purposes of the jury, but does not create an issue for suppression.

And so I'll grant the [state's] request here to strike that portion of the motion that deal with essentially I believe he's identified on page 8 [...] and continued forward in regard to the field sobriety tests [...]. (58:8-9.)

Thus the focus of the November 24th suppression hearing was appropriately narrowed to that which occurred before Trooper De Anda expanded the scope of the stop by asking Terhune whether he had any alcohol to drink.

But ultimately Terhune had the opportunity to explore the issues set forth in his motion to suppress over the course of the two dates set for the Refusal Hearing (October 25, 2022 and continued to January 30, 2023 as Terhune's counsel signaled his desire to further cross examine on the issue of FSTs). One of the issues at the at the Refusal Hearing is "[w]hether the officer had probable cause to believe the person was driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol [etc ...]" WIS. STAT. § 343.305(9)(a)5.a. That issue mirrors the standard in WIS. STAT. § 343.303 that establishes if a law enforcement officer has "probable cause to believe" a person is violating or has violated § 346.63(1) or (2m) (i.e. was driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol, etc...), the officer may request the person to submit to a PBT. WIS. STAT. § 343.305(9)(a)5.a. goes on to require that an issue at a Refusal Hearing be "whether the person was lawfully placed under arrest [...]," which In Re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, ¶ 62, 341 Wis.2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 67, made clear encompassed challenges to the legality of seizures that led to the arrest.

Terhune challenged nearly every constitutional chokepoint at the Refusal Hearing:

[...] I think the Court can consider whether there was reasonable suspicion to expand the stop, probable cause for the PBT, probable cause to arrest. I would reraise the suppression motion in its entirety. Based on the testimony we have heard today, I would

argue that none of those things existed. Based on that, I would ask the Court to find Terhune's refusal to be lawful [...] (61:46.)

While the Trial Court responded that it did not intend to "reopen the suppression hearing" (61:46), the issues it then went on to address were identical to those very suppression issues. Most notably, Terhune's argument regarding "probable cause to believe" was addressed directly by the court's ruling on the merits of the Refusal when it addressed the FSTs in detail. The only additional factor after the PBT that contributed to the overall probable cause determination, which the Trial Court gave "small weight" to anyway, was the refusal to provide a PBT. Thus, Terhune asks this Court to make a distinction without a difference, by saying that his scattershot challenge to was somehow given short shrift despite three evidentiary hearings and a detailed analysis of Trooper De Anda's testimony regarding the FSTs.

"[P]robable cause to believe refers to a quantum of proof greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop ... but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest." *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 316, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Trial Court had ample evidence that the PBT request was lawful, because Trooper De Anda had the following information when he requested a PBT from Terhune:

• Speeding 85 in 70 mph zone (58:14).

Case 2023AP000353 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-12-2024 Page 13 of 20

• Wide turn crossing two lanes into the turning lane at an intersection (58:14; 61:40).

- Odor of intoxicants from vehicle (58:15-16).
- Odor of cologne or perfume, which is sometimes used as a masking agent (58:16).
- Coming from ax throwing, which Trooper De Anda knew to typically involves alcohol (58:16).
- Slow dexterity in presenting insurance through his phone slow fingers, which appeared unusual (58:17-18).
- Terhune leaned over passenger and dropped phone (58:18).
- Swaying motion as Terhune exited vehicle (58:18).
- Terhune initially denied drinking, then admitted to one cup of beer when confronted with odor of intoxicants from breath (60:11).
- Five out of six clues on the horizontal gaze nystagmus test (60:13).
- Four out of eight clues on the walk and turn test (61:37).
- Three out of four clues on the one leg stand test (60:16).

At this point, Trooper De Anda had ample evidence to request the PBT under the "probable cause to believe" standard contemplated by WIS. STAT. § 343.303. The Trial Court's factual findings made it clear that "under all the circumstances, the Court can reasonably rely on the field sobriety tests here." (61:50). The Trial Court "[u]nder the circumstances [found] that the refusal here

was not reasonable under all the facts and circumstances [and] that the officer had probable cause in this matter [...]" (61:50). Those findings both specifically acknowledge Terhune's challenge to the FSTs, the standard of "probable cause to believe," and the constitutional chokepoint of the PBT request. But even removing the PBT refusal from the equation, there would have been probable cause for an OWI arrest regardless.

III. The Trial Court Appropriately Denied Terhune's Motion to Declare Wisconsin's Implied Consent Statute Unconstitutional

Every legislative enactment is presumed constitutional, and if any doubt exists about a statute's constitutionality, a court must resolve that doubt in favor of constitutionality. *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶ 44, 333 Wis. 2d 335, 797 N.W.2d 451. The presumption of constitutionality can be overcome only if the challenging party establishes that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Forrett*, 2021 WI App 31, ¶ 7, 398 Wis. 2d 371, 961 N.W.2d 132, 134 (*citing Wis. Med. Soc'y, Inc. v. Morgan*, 2010 WI 94, ¶ 37, 328 Wis. 2d 469, 787 N.W.2d 22.) This presumption of constitutionality and the steep burden apply to both applied and facial challenges of a statute's constitutionality. *State v. McGuire*, 2010 WI 91, ¶ 25, 328 Wis. 2d 289, 786 N.W.2d 227.

It is well established that it is impermissible to threaten a person with a criminal penalty for refusing a blood test under an implied consent law. *Birchfield* v. *North Dakota*, 579 U.S. 438, 477, 136 S.Ct. 2160 (2016). But, Wisconsin's Implied Consent law does not impose criminal penalties for refusing. It imposes

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